ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Horry County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

KEITH SHELDON LEVAN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000863

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

DEC 27 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err in finding that counsel was not ineffective for failing to adequately present self-defense where the trial judge partially instructed the jury on the doctrine of mutual combat and counsel failed to request an instruction that if a combatant withdraws from the initial combat, he may still invoke self-defense?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted in April 2016 by the Horry County grand jury for murder. App. 512. On February 13, 2017, Petitioner was called to trial before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury. App. 1. Petitioner was represented by Lawrence R. Filiberto. App. 1. The state was represented by Scott R. Hixson and Thomas G. Terrell, III. App. 1.

On February 21, 2015 law enforcement responded to the parking lot of a Home Depot in Myrtle Beach and found a vehicle that had crashed into a median with its engine still running. App. 77, l. 16 – 78, l. 25. The driver of the vehicle, Barry Selmon, was slumped over in the driver's seat and had been shot one time in the back of the head.¹ App. 82, l. 20 – 85, l. 7; app. 92, ll. 7 – 22.

After Selmon was discovered deceased in the Home Depot parking lot, Petitioner and his wife Penny arrived at the Myrtle Beach Police Department to report being harassed by Selmon. App. 128, l. 18 – 130, l. 16. During that meeting, Petitioner informed the police officers that he shot Selmon in self-defense. App. 507 – 508. Petitioner was placed under arrest. App. 135, ll. 11 – 13.

Petitioner testified in his own defense at trial. Petitioner had grown increasingly concerned for his and his wife's safety as a result of Selmon's actions towards them. App. 277, ll. 3 – 20. Petitioner testified that he reported his concerns regarding Selmon to law enforcement. App. 277, l. 15 – 278, l. 5. Petitioner's trial counsel also introduced a photograph

¹ The Walmart was directly adjacent to the Home Depot where Selmon was found deceased. There was also a Costco directly adjacent to the Home Depot. H. H. Gregg and Home Goods were both directly across the street from the Home Depot which was in between Costco and Walmart. The only surveillance video introduced at trial came from the Costco. App. 138, l. 21 – 141, l. 10; app. 158, l. 13 – 160, l. 15.

of Selmon holding a “large [and] intimidating firearm.” Selmon had sent the photograph to Penny about four months prior to the shooting. App. 278, l. 6 – 280, l. 10.

As a result of Selmon’s actions towards Penny, Petitioner asked Penny to stop communicating with Selmon. App. 280, ll. 12 – 15. In the early morning hours on the day of the shooting, Petitioner was awakened to Penny crying and emotionally distraught. App. 281, ll. 12 – 23. Selmon had asked Penny to meet him in the Walmart parking lot. App. 283, ll. 7 – 14. Petitioner decided that he would go to the Walmart parking lot to confront Selmon to tell him to leave Penny alone and to stop terrorizing his family. App. 284, ll. 17 – 24. Petitioner carried a rifle with him when he went to meet Selmon because he was fearful, and he knew that Selmon carried a gun. App. 285, ll. 1 – 25.

After Petitioner arrived at the Walmart,² he began having second thoughts about confronting Selmon and he attempted to leave. App. 287, ll. 9 – 17. Before Petitioner could leave though, Selmon pulled up next to him. App. 287, l. 19 – 288, l. 22. Petitioner began to drive away from Selmon and drove around the parking lot in the visibility of Walmart’s surveillance cameras.³ App. 287, l. 25 – 288, l. 2. Selmon caught up to Petitioner a second time and pulled up directly next to him. App. 288, ll. 20 – 25. Selmon rolled down his passenger side window and realized that the person in the other car was Petitioner and not Penny. When

² The Walmart was directly adjacent to the Home Depot where Selmon was found deceased. There was also a Costco directly adjacent to the Home Depot. H. H. Gregg and Home Goods were both directly across the street from the Home Depot which was in between Costco and Walmart. The only surveillance video introduced at trial came from the Costco. App. 138, l. 21 – 141, l. 10; app. 158, l. 13 – 160, l. 15.

³ The Walmart was directly adjacent to the Home Depot where Selmon was found deceased. There was also a Costco directly adjacent to the Home Depot. H. H. Gregg and Home Goods were both directly across the street from the Home Depot which was in between Costco and Walmart. The only surveillance video introduced at trial came from the Costco. App. 138, l. 21 – 141, l. 10; app. 158, l. 13 – 160, l. 15.

Selmon realized that Penny was not in the car, Petitioner recalled: “[Selmon] was furious and started making violent gestures and yelling out obscenities and threatened to kill me.” App. 288, l. 22 – 289, l. 17.

Petitioner attempted to flee from Selmon after Selmon threatened to kill him. App. 289, ll. 19 – 24. As Petitioner was driving away from Selmon, he stopped his car behind the Home Goods store that was across the street from the Home Depot and tried to hide and dial 911. App. 290, ll. 12 – 25. Selmon caught up to Petitioner’s car again and cut Petitioner off with his vehicle. App. 291, ll. 1 – 6. Petitioner recalled: “Selmon, who had pulled his vehicle in front of mine, rolled his window down, yelling that I’m a dead son-of-a-bitch and pointed – and started pointing it at me like that . . . with something in his hand.” App. 291, ll. 8 – 12. Believing that Selmon had a firearm, Petitioner jumped out of the car so that he could flee. App. 291, ll. 16 – 22. However, when Petitioner got out of the car, Selmon backed his vehicle up, struck Petitioner and ran over his right foot. Petitioner then fired his rifle into the back of Selmon’s vehicle in an attempt to save himself from being run over. App. 291, l. 21 – 293, l. 12.

After the shooting, Petitioner left the scene. Several hours later, he found out that Selmon was dead and voluntarily went to the police department to explain to them what happened. App. 293, l. 18 – 294, l. 13. Petitioner was found guilty of murder. The judge sentenced him to forty years imprisonment. App. 387, ll. 8 – 12; app. 324, ll. 7 – 9.

Petitioner withdrew his direct appeal and filed his PCR application on October 24, 2017. The state filed its Return on February 5, 2018. App. 399 – 412. Petitioner filed an amended PCR application through his attorney, T. Kirk Truslow, on August 3, 2018. App. 413.

An evidentiary hearing was held on November 30, 2018 before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis. Petitioner was represented by Kirk Truslow and the state was represented by Johnny E.

James, Jr. App. 417. Petitioner and his trial counsel, Filiberto, testified at the hearing. App.

418. The PCR judge denied Petitioner's application for relief.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in finding that counsel was not ineffective for failing to adequately present self-defense because the trial judge partially instructed the jury on the doctrine of mutual combat and counsel failed to request an instruction that if a combatant withdraws from the initial combat, he may still invoke self-defense.

Relevant Facts

The trial judge granted defense counsel's requests to charge self-defense and voluntary manslaughter. App. 318, l. 17 – 327, l. 7. The trial judge also instructed the jury on the doctrine of mutual combat. This instruction appeared immediately after his explanation of the first element of self-defense – that the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. App. 379, l. 14 – 380, l. 5. The judge instructed the jury:

If the Defendant voluntar[ily] participated in mutual combat for the purposes other than protection, the killing of the victim would not be self-defense. For mutual combat, there has to be a mutual intent of both parties and a willingness to fight of both parties. This intent may be shown by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances surrounding the combat.

App. 379, l. 14 – 380, l. 5.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel was asked why he failed to request a jury instruction that an aggressor who withdraws from the combat can still claim self-defense pursuant to "State v. Graham and Duncan."⁴ Trial counsel admitted that he was aware of such a charge but did not

⁴ While PCR counsel did not give specific citations to these cases, it appears from the context that he was referring to State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 196 S.E.2d 495 (1973) and State v. Duncan, 86 S.C. 370, 68 S.E. 684 (1910). Graham held that a mutual combat instruction was warranted where the defendant and decedent had prior disputes with one another, including making threats to each other, and then essentially engaged in a "duel" in the street in front of a barber shop where both knew the other was armed and both fired shots at each other. Graham, 260 S.C. at 451, 196 S.E.2d at 496. Duncan was also a self-defense case that centered on the

request it. He reasoned: “I think that based on [Petitioner’s] testimony it would’ve been a challenging attempt with the Court.” App. 461, l. 25 – 462, l. 16. However, counsel admitted that Petitioner’s testimony at trial was that he was trying to get away from Selmon when the shooting happened. Counsel acknowledged that he failed to request the self-defense charge that an initial aggressor can withdraw and still claim self-defense. App. 480, l. 11 – 481, l. 2.

Discussion

The PCR judge erred in finding that counsel was not ineffective for failing to adequately present a claim of self-defense. In order to prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must show that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient,” meaning that it fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668.

Mutual combat should not have been charged to the jury in this case because there was no evidence that Selmon went to the Walmart parking lot looking for a fight; nor was there evidence

issue of whether or not the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Duncan, 86 S.C. 370, 68 S.E. at 686.

that Selmon knew Petitioner was armed. Selmon was intending only to meet Petitioner's wife, Penny, at the Walmart.⁵ Mutual combat was therefore inapplicable to the facts of this case and should not have been charged. See State v. Bowers, 428 S.C. 21, 32, 832 S.E.2d 623, 629 (Ct. App. 2019) (noting that in State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003), this Court required that mutual combat arise out of a pre-existing dispute between the parties, that each party be armed, and that each party know the other is armed). However, mutual combat was charged, and trial counsel did not object to it.

Counsel's failure to object to the mutual combat instruction was deficient performance because the doctrine was irrelevant to Petitioner's case.⁶ Furthermore, because mutual combat was instructed, the burden of disproving self-defense was removed from the state and instead the burden was shifted to Petitioner to prove that he withdrew from the combat. This Court observed in State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 235, 589 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2003):

The mutual combat doctrine is triggered when both parties contribute to the resulting fight. Self-defense, on the other hand, is available only when the defendant is without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Despite this fundamental difference between the doctrines of mutual conflict and self-defense, the Court of Appeals found that charging mutual combat to the jury did not destroy Petitioner's self-defense theory because Petitioner still could have proven that he withdrew from the fight in good faith. This finding, however, fails to recognize that requiring Petitioner to prove he withdrew from the fight removes the burden to disprove self-defense from the State, and improperly places it on the Petitioner.

Id. (internal citations and emphasis omitted).

⁵ The state's theory at trial was essentially that Petitioner's wife was cheating on him with Selmon in order to get back at Petitioner for having allegedly cheated on her.

⁶ While the specific argument that mutual combat should not have been instructed was not raised at the PCR hearing, it provides context to the argument that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a full and complete instruction on the doctrine of mutual combat, specifically, withdrawal.

Given the fact that the trial judge did partially instruct the jury on the doctrine of mutual combat, trial counsel should have, at a minimum, requested that the judge give the full and complete instruction on mutual combat. While it was a correct statement of law that self-defense is not available to one who engages in mutual combat, that was not a complete statement of the law. In order to accurately explain the doctrine of mutual combat, the jury instruction should have also stated that although the plea of self-defense is not available to a person engaged in mutual combat, if he “withdraws and endeavors in good faith to decline further conflict, and either by word or act, makes that fact known to his adversary,” the plea of self-defense is still available to him. State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 451, 196 S.E. 495, 496 (1973); see also State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 232, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003) (noting that self-defense is unavailable to a person engaged in mutual combat *unless* the person withdraws from the combat prior to the killing).

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request a full and complete instruction on the doctrine of mutual combat where the judge instructed the jury that this doctrine negated a plea of self-defense. Petitioner’s defense at trial was clearly that of self-defense. Even though Petitioner armed himself and went to confront Selmon, he changed his mind about confronting Selmon after he got to the Walmart. App. 287, ll. 9 – 17. Petitioner was attempting to leave the scene when he was accosted by Selmon who was so angry when he realized that Penny had not come to meet him that he began threatening to kill Petitioner. App. 288, l. 22 – 289, l. 17. Petitioner was trying to get away from Selmon, clearly conveying his intent to withdraw from any conflict. However, Selmon blocked Petitioner with his vehicle and then ran over Petitioner when he tried to flee. App. 291, l. 21 – 293, l. 12.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel was asked about his view of Petitioner's self-defense claim:

The challenge I think was that [Petitioner] created the confrontation. I tried to make the argument – ultimately, when it was gonna [sic] go to trial, I tried to make the argument that he discontinued the confrontation and then a subsequent confrontation occurred between Mr. Selmon and [Petitioner].

App. 452, l. 23 – 453, l. 4. Counsel's candid admission regarding the challenge of arguing self-defense when Petitioner armed himself in order to confront Selmon was very important. Counsel knew that the most difficult aspect of Petitioner's defense was going to be the first element of self-defense, i.e. that the defendant be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. The "without fault" element was instructed right before the jury was instructed that self-defense was not available to a person who was engaged in mutual combat. App. 379, l. 14 – 380, l. 5. Therefore, it was essential that trial counsel ensure the jury was also correctly instructed that a combatant who withdraws from the conflict may regain the right to act in self-defense. As counsel freely admitted at the PCR hearing, this was exactly the argument he sought to make on Petitioner's behalf to the jury. However, his argument was completely negated by the trial court's erroneous and incomplete charge on mutual combat.