RECEIVED

FEB 27 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Steven H. John, Trial Judge
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000863

Keith Sheldon Levan.....Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,.....Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to present a self-defense argument where the trial judge partially instructed the jury on the doctrine of mutual combat and Counsel failed to request an instruction that one can invoke self-defense after the combatant withdraws from the initial combat.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the post-conviction relief court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was constitutionally ineffective in failing to present a self-defense argument after the judge partially instructed the jury on the doctrine of mutual combat and Counsel failed to request an instruction that if a combatant withdraws from the initial combat, he may still invoke self-defense. Petitioner argues this establishes that Counsel was constitutionally ineffective and this ineffectiveness warrants remanding the matter back to the court of general sessions for resentencing. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel “effectively and adequately advanced a theory of self-defense on Applicant’s behalf a trial.” (Appx. 500). These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, Generally

There is probative evidence to support the lower court’s findings of effective assistance of counsel. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). The *Strickland* analysis is a two-pronged test, of which the applicant shoulders the burden of proof in meeting both prongs.

First, the applicant must prove defense counsel’s performance was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency,

the applicant must prove by the preponderance of the evidence¹ that counsels actions fell outside of the zone of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. Reasonableness is determined by the “variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant” and the scope limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. *Id.* at 689. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690).

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsels unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 295. Realistically, this matters “only in the rarest case” because “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 111-12 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697).

Self-Defense

Whether failure to assert a defense constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel ultimately hinges on if failure to explore the decision was a strategic decision. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 680. If there is only one line of defense, counsel must conduct a “reasonably substantial investigation” into that line of defense. *Id.* (quoting *Washington v. Strickland*, 693 F.2d 1243, 1252(1984)). That said, if there are several lines of defense, counsel may still be effective even if every single

¹ As per Rule 71.1(e) SCRCP

line is not explored. *Id.* “[W]hen counsels assumptions are reasonable given the totality of the circumstances and when counsel's strategy represents a reasonable choice based upon those assumptions, counsel need not investigate lines of defense that he has chosen not to employ at trial.” *Id.* at 681 *Id.* (quoting *Washington v. Strickland*, 693 F.2d at 1255). Further, “[w]hen counsel focuses on some issues to the exclusion of others, there is a strong presumption that he [or she] did so for tactical reasons rather than through sheer neglect.” *Yarborough*, 540 U.S. at 5 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690).

Here, there is probative evidence to support the PCR Court’s determination that Counsel was not ineffective in developing a self-defense argument at trial. Though Counsel did not specifically mention self-defense in his opening, he told the jury to keep an open mind, use common sense, and apply the law as described. During the charge conference, Counsel asked for both voluntarily manslaughter and self-defense charges, both of which the court granted. Additionally, the Court did not charge inference of malice from Petitioner’s possession of a deadly weapon, because of the self-defense charge as well as other mitigating factors. *See State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 612 (2009).

Further, Counsel called Petitioner to testify at trial, partially to support a self-defense argument. Petitioner stated that for months leading up to the incident, he became concerned about his safety and well-being because of conversations he was aware of between the victim and his common law wife. (App. 276-77). He testified he lost sleep, checked the doors and locks, and took other safety precautions for about two years leading up to the incident out of fear of the victim. (App. 277). He took the matter to the police, who told him he did not have enough evidence for them to take action. (App. 277). Counsel also introduced a photograph of victim

holding a firearm, which was sent to Petitioner's wife with an accompanying note that caused his wife to cry. (App. 278-80).

Petitioner testified on February 21, 2015 (the night of the incident), the Petitioner was awoken in the middle of the night because of his emotionally-distraught wife who began crying after receiving a message from the victim. (App. 281-82). The message terrified Petitioner, who had received many similar messages from the victim and testified the messages' contents were getting increasingly worse. (App. 283). Ultimately, he decided to confront the victim regarding the messages received and tell him to stop messaging the family and to stop "terrorizing [him] and [his] son." (App. 284). Additionally, he decided to arm himself out of fear of confronting the victim and pre-existing knowledge regarding victim's habit to carry a firearm. (App. 285).

Once both men were at the scene, Petitioner testified that victim was furious at him and started making violent gestures and yelling obscenities and threatened to kill him. (App. 289). After this, Petitioner became scared and drove around the building they were parked outside of. (App. 289-290). The victim followed Petitioner, while Petitioner headed to the police department. (App. 290). The victim continued followed Petitioner and ultimately cut him off while yelling at him with the windows down, saying he was dead and began pointing at him with an unidentified object, which Petitioner thought was a firearm. (App. 291). Petitioner put his car in the line of fire, hopped out of the car, and grabbed his gun, which got stuck in the seatbelt and attempted to shoot at the victim's tires. (App. 291-92). Petitioner was hit with victim's car and sustained injuries as a result. (App. 292). Petitioner got off the ground after being struck, retrieved his rifle, which fired and struck the victim's car. (App. 293). Petitioner stated he did not know the victim was fatally injured until hours later. (App. 293-94). This testimony was

presented in the Petitioner's defense, substantiating Counsel's argument for the self-defense argument and the lesser included defense of voluntary manslaughter.

When closing, though Counsel acknowledged confrontation was a poor idea, he stated Petitioner only went after victim to get him to leave his family alone. Counsel closed with walking through the facts within a self-defense context. The Court instructed the jury on self-defense. (App. 378-79).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated that he and Counsel discussed using a self-defense argument prior to trial, even though Petitioner did not know it would ultimately be used. Counsel testified that the case was ultimately a mitigation case, but he did successfully secure a self-defense charge. Further, Counsel testified that he advised Petitioner that he must testify to assert a self-defense claim for any chance of establishing this offense to occur.

Given the facts laid out above, there is no indication of ineffective assistance of counsel in asserting a self-defense argument at trial. Counsel incorporated the defense at all stages of the proceeding and maintained self-defense as a central theme at trial. Petitioner was aware of the self-defense argument prior to trial and knew, if this argument was made, he would have to testify at trial. Further, any additional focus placed on the mitigation argument, that otherwise took away from time that theoretically could have been spent fleshing out the self-defense argument was tactical by nature, presumably because Counsel believed self-defense was not a strong argument in this case. This was made clear in his testimony that he thought the case would ultimately be a mitigation case; not a self-defense case. (App. 453-54). Thus, there was probative evidence in this case to support the lower court's finding that the self-defense claim was adequately presented at trial.

Mutual Combat

Further, there is no indication of ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to ensure a complete explanation of mutual combat was provided to the jury. To constitute mutual combat, there must be “mutual intent and willingness to fight . . . [that] may be manifested by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances attending and leading up to the combat.” *State v. Graham*, 260 S.C. 449, 450, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495. Unless he later withdraws or attempts, in good faith, to decline further conflict and makes this known to the adversary, he cannot make a valid self-defense claim. *Id.* at 451.

Here, mutual combat is relevant in this case. The record makes clear that Petitioner went to the scene to confront the victim and once the victim saw the person at the scene was Petitioner, he immediately became angry, hostile, and ready to fight. Both sides intended to confront one another, if not become violent towards the other party.

There was no indication that Petitioner withdrew from the fight and communicated this intent to withdraw with the victim. Conversely, even though Petitioner drove away from the victim a number of times, he never fully left the scene and, after driving around the parking lot, grabbed his firearm and began to aim and then shoot at the victim’s car. Thus, there is no indication that a withdrawal instruction would have been relevant, given the circumstances.

Further, Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he had considered requesting a full instruction to the jury on mutual combat, but decided against it, stating that he decided against making the argument because it would have been a “challenging attempt with the court” because “[h]is testimony was actually pretty challenged”, testifying that he struggled answering the questions and, consequently, Counsel had to lead him “aggressively”. (App. 462). Thus, not objecting to the jury instruction was a tactical decision chosen by Counsel because of his belief

that objecting to the instruction would not have benefited his client. Petitioner's testimony was weak and Counsel, understanding this, did not think a full instruction would have made a difference. Thus, failure to object did not fall below the standard of competence required of attorneys and, thus, Counsel did not act ineffectively.

Additionally, Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's inaction. Evidence was overwhelming that Petitioner grabbed his firearm and met the victim at the parking lot with the intent to confront him. Petitioner's testimony was flawed and challenged. Specifically, Petitioner intentionally created the conflict and, when the victim became angry, he grabbed the gun and shot him. Based upon these facts, it is reasonable to conclude that regardless of whether or not Counsel asked and was granted a full instruction on mutual combat, the results of the proceeding would have remained unchanged. Petitioner would be found guilty of murder regardless of whether the jury was given a complete instruction or not. Thus, Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's alleged deficient performance and, thus, Petitioner fails to pass the second prong of the *Strickland* test as well.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's findings that Petitioner had effective assistance of counsel. However, if this Court decides to grant the petition of writ of certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.